COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

Between:	
	FAIRHAVEN (hereinafter referred to as the "Employer")
And:	
	ONTARIO NURSES' ASSOCIATION (hereinafter referred to as the "Union")

Expiry Date: March 31, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE	
ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	2
ARTICLE 4 - RELATIONSHIP	
ARTICLE 5 - STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS	
ARTICLE 6 - UNION COMMITTEES AND REPRESENTATIVES	
ARTICLE 7 - UNION DUES	6
ARTICLE 8 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	6
ARTICLE 9 – ARBITRATION	_
ARTICLE 10 – SENIORITY	
ARTICLE 11 - EMPLOYEE FILES	.12
ARTICLE 12 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE	.12
ARTICLE 13 - PAID HOLIDAYS	.19
ARTICLE 14 – VACATION	
ARTICLE 15 - SICK LEAVE	
ARTICLE 16 - HOURS OF WORK AND WORKING CONDITIONS	
ARTICLE 17 - HEALTH PROGRAMME	
ARTICLE 18 – BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 19 – MISCELLANEOUS	
ARTICLE 20 – WAGES	
ARTICLE 21 - ORIENTATION AND IN SERVICE	
ARTICLE 22 - PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY	
ARTICLE 23 – JOB SHARING	
ARTICLE 24 – DURATION OF AGREEMENT	
SIGNING PAGE	
APPENDIX 'A'	
SALARY SCHEDULES	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING	
Re: Administering Certain Medications	
CHAIRPERSONS - NÜRSING ASSESSMENT COMMITTEES	
NURSING HOMES AND HOMES FOR THE AGED	
Re: Supernumerary Positions	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING	.41
Re: Call-in Errors	41

ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE

1.01 The purpose of this Agreement is to establish by mutual agreement an orderly collective bargaining relationship between the Employer and the nurses concerned, and to provide for the prompt disposition of grievances, to establish and maintain satisfactory working conditions, hours of work, and wages for all nurses within the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION

- 2.01 The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all Registered and Graduate Nurses employed in a nursing capacity by Fairhaven in Peterborough, save and except the Director of Nursing, persons above the rank of Director of Nursing and the Director of Residential Care Services.
- 2.02 A Registered Nurse is defined as a person who is currently registered by the College of Nurses of Ontario in accordance with the <u>Regulated Health Professions</u>

 <u>Act, 1991</u>, as amended, and a Certificate of Competence will be presented to the Director of Resident Care on request.
- 2.03 The word "nurses" when used throughout this Agreement shall mean persons included in the above-described bargaining unit.
- 2.04 In order to protect the standard of nursing care, the Employer agrees that no one outside of the above-mentioned bargaining unit shall perform the work normally performed by members of this bargaining unit, except for the purpose of instruction, experimentation or in the event of an emergency situation.
- 2.05 The Employer agrees not to utilize non-bargaining unit personnel in such a way as to displace members of this bargaining unit from their employment.
- 2.06 The Employer recognizes the following categories of employees:

A full time nurse is a nurse who normally works ten (10) shifts of duty in a two (2) week pay period. Hours are scheduled in accordance with Article 16.

A regular part time nurse is a nurse who normally works less than ten (10) shifts of duty in a two (2) week pay period. The part time nurse covers a full time nurse days off. Hours are scheduled in accordance with Article 16.

A casual part time nurse is a nurse who does not have any regularly scheduled shifts. Hours are scheduled in accordance with Article 16.

- 2.07 A part-time nurse is defined as a nurse who regularly works less than the full-time hours referred to in Article 16.
- 2.08 A part-time nurse temporarily employed to fill a vacancy of a full-time nurse on leave of absence shall remain as part-time. On completion of the leave of absence, both nurses will return to their former positions.

2.09 Union Interview

A new employee will have the opportunity to meet with a representative of the Union in the employ of the Home for a period of up to fifteen (15) minutes during the employee's orientation period, without loss of regular earnings. The purpose of the meeting will be to acquaint the employee with such representative of the Union and the Collective Agreement. Such meetings may be arranged collectively or individually for employees by the Home as part of the orientation program.

- 2.10 The Employer shall, upon entry into any service agreement with the Ministry of Health in respect of residents cared for by members of this bargaining unit, provide to the Union copies, upon request, of any documents or materials which it is required to post in the Home pursuant to the <u>Long-Term Care Homes Act, 2007.</u>
- 2.11 (a) The assignment of resident care duties, including the delegation or direction of duties by members of the bargaining unit to other health care providers, shall be in accordance with the *Regulated Health Professions Act* and related statutes and regulations and in accordance with the guidelines established by the College of Nurses of Ontario from time to time and any Employer policy related thereto shall meet those requirements.
 - (b) The Home will consider a College of Nurses of Ontario practice setting consultation. In the event that the Home exercises its discretion to make a request, the Home shall pay the costs, share any reports with ONA, and consult with the Local ONA President with respect to the appointment of one (1) RN representative on the focus group.
- 2.12 The Employer agrees to employ sufficient registered staff and personal support workers to meet the staffing needs that may be set from time to time by statute and/or regulation. In the event that there is insufficient staffing to meet this undertaking, the Employer will post vacancies so that any unmet care undertaking will be satisfied.

ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 3.01 The Union agrees that it is the right of the Employer to:
 - (a) maintain order, discipline and efficiency;
 - (b) hire, discharge, direct, transfer, classify, promote, demote or discipline any nurse;
 - (c) generally manage the Home for the benefit of the residents:
 - (d) introduce new and improved facilities and methods aimed to improve the efficiency of the operation of the Home.
- 3.02 Rules and regulations made by Management will be reasonable, and uniformly administered.
- 3.03 A nurse may grieve in the event of any of the following Employer actions taken without just cause: non-disciplinary termination, non-disciplinary demotion, non-

disciplinary transfer (Employer initiated) and imposed absence from work for any reason.

3.04 The Employer agrees that these functions shall be executed in a manner consistent with the general purpose and intent of this Agreement, and that a claim by a nurse that s/he has been disciplined or discharged without just cause, may be the subject of a grievance and dealt with in accordance with the grievance and arbitration provisions in this Agreement.

In the case of a nurse who has not completed her or his probationary period, her or his right to grieve her or his discharge is subject to Article 8.06.

ARTICLE 4 - RELATIONSHIP

4.01 The Employer and the Union will continue their policy of no discrimination, interference, restriction or coercion being exercised or practiced with respect to any nurse by reason of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, or disability or other factors not pertinent with respect to employment, or by reason of her/his membership in or activities on behalf of the Union, or while exercising their rights under the Collective Agreement or any applicable legislation. This provision will be interpreted consistent with the Ontario Human Rights Codes.

4.02 <u>Violence in the Workplace</u>

- (a) It is the mutual interest of the parties to promote health and safety in the workplace and to prevent and reduce the occurrence of workplace injuries and occupational diseases. The parties agree that health and safety is of the utmost importance and agree to promote health and safety and wellness throughout the facility. The employer shall provide orientation and training in health and safety to new and current employees on an ongoing basis and employees shall attend required health and safety training sessions. Accordingly, the parties fully endorse the responsibilities of employer and employees under the Occupational Health and Safety Act, making particular reference to the following;
 - The employer shall take every precaution reasonable in the circumstances for the protection of a worker. [Occupational Health and Safety Act, s. 25(2)(h)].
 - When faced with occupational health and safety decisions, the Employer will not await full scientific or absolute certainty before taking reasonable action(s) that reduces risk and protects nurses.
 - Employers will ensure adequate stocks of the N95 respirator (or such other personal protective equipment as the parties may in writing agree) to be made available to nurses at short notice in the event there are reasonable indications of the emergence of a pandemic.

- (b) The parties will determine appropriate solutions to promote health and safety in workplaces, including, but not limited to:
 - Violence in the Workplace (include Verbal Abuse)
 - Musculoskeletal Injury Prevention
 - Needle Stick and other sharps Injury Prevention
 - Nurses who regularly work alone or who are isolated in the workplace.
 - Wellness initiatives

(c) Violence in the Workplace

The employer will consider requests for reimbursement for damages incurred to the nurse's personal property, such as eyeglasses, ripped uniforms, personal clothing, as a result of being assaulted while performing his or her work.

(d) <u>Violence Policies and Procedures</u>

The Employer agrees to develop explicit policies and procedures to deal with violence. Prior to implementing any changes to these policies, the employer agrees to consult with the Union.

(e) Notification to the Union

The Home will inform the Union in writing within three (3) days of any employee who has been assaulted while performing her/his work.

(f) Joint Health and Safety Committee

All incidents of workplace violence shall be brought to the attention of the Joint Health and Safety Committee.

(g) <u>Training</u>

The Employer agrees to provide training and information on the prevention of workplace violence to all employees who come into contact with potentially aggressive persons. This training will be done during a new employee's orientation and updated on an annual basis for all employees.

ARTICLE 5 - STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

5.01 The Union agrees that there will be no strikes and the Employer agrees there will be no lockouts during the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 6 - UNION COMMITTEES AND REPRESENTATIVES

6.01 The Employer will recognize the following representatives:

The Employer will recognize two (2) Union Executive Committee representatives. Upon mutual agreement of the parties, the foregoing number may be altered from

time to time. The Union Executive Committee shall have the right to have the assistance of representatives or consultants from Ontario Nurses' Association.

The Employer will recognize a Grievance Committee of up to two (2) nurses who shall also be Union representatives.

6.03 Negotiating Committee

The Employer will recognize a Negotiating Committee of up to three (3) nurses.

6.04 Joint Labour Management Committee

A Joint Labour Management Committee shall be composed of two (2) representatives from each of the parties, including the Bargaining Unit President and Director of Care. Meetings of this Committee shall be held at the request of either party, upon at least three (3) days written notice to the Human Resources Manager or designate.

There shall be a Joint Labour Management Committee. The Committee shall meet within four (4) weeks of any request by either party to convene a meeting and there shall be no minimum or maximum number of meetings for this purpose. The party requesting the meeting shall specify the nature of the issues to be discussed at the meeting.

The purpose of this Committee shall be to discuss matters relating to workload, scheduling matters, job content and other matters of mutual concern. Minutes of these meetings shall be maintained and signed by both parties. By mutual agreement either party may bring resources to the meeting.

6.05 Occupational Health and Safety

- (a) The Employer shall comply with all applicable Federal, Provincial and Municipal health and safety legislation regulations. All standards established under the legislation and regulation shall constitute minimum acceptable practice.
- (b) A representative of this bargaining unit shall form part of the established Health and Safety Committee.
- (c) All time spent by the member of the Health and Safety Committee attending meetings of the Committee in carrying out her/his duties shall be deemed to be work time for which she/he shall be paid by the Employer at her/his regular or premium rate as may be proper, and she/he shall be entitled to such time from her/his work as is necessary.
- The Employer shall pay Union representatives their regular salaries for time spent attending meetings with the Employer. Nurses scheduled to work the night shift prior or the evening shift the day of negotiations shall be booked off and will be rescheduled to attend negotiations.

ARTICLE 7 - UNION DUES

- 7.01 The Employer shall deduct, in the first [1st] payroll period in each month, from the earnings of all nurses in the bargaining unit, a sum equal to the monthly Union dues for each nurse. Where a nurse has no earnings during the first [1st] payroll period, the deduction shall be made in the next payroll period where the nurse has earnings within that month. The deduction period for a nurse may be extended where the nurse does not receive pay in a particular month.
- 7.02 (a) The Union shall indemnify and save the Employer harmless with respect to any liability for dues so deducted and remitted.
 - (b) Such dues shall be deducted monthly from each nurse, but in the case of a newly-hired nurse such deduction shall commence in the first [1st] pay period immediately following her date of hire.
- 7.03 The amount of the regular monthly dues shall be those authorized by the Union. The Provincial Secretary Treasurer of the Union shall notify the Employer of any changes therein and such notification shall be the Employer's conclusive authority to make the deduction specified.
- 7.04 The total amount deducted, pursuant to Article 7.02 above, shall be remitted monthly to the Union no later than the 15th of the month following the month in which the dues were deducted. In remitting such dues, the Employer shall provide a list of nurses and the amounts deducted in accordance with this Article.

The list shall also include the name, classification, employee status, registration number, site/division/location, and social insurance number of each nurse from whom deductions were made in the preceding month. The Employer will also provide a listing of all terminations, newly hired nurses, nurses on leaves of absences, paid or unpaid, and any nurses who have not paid the full amount of dues. Each new nurse's address and telephone number will also be included.

At least once per year, a master list shall be provided to the Union which includes the addresses and telephone numbers of each nurse listed above, and shall also include a summary of the preceding year, by month, with the name of each nurse who has not paid dues but has retained employee status, and the reason(s) therefore.

A copy of the above lists shall be provided to each of the Provincial and Local Unions.

<u>ARTICLE 8 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE</u>

- 8.01 For purposes of this agreement, a grievance is defined as a difference arising between the parties relating to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the Agreement including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable.
- 8.02 At any stage of the grievance procedure, including the complaint stage, a nurse may be accompanied by a union representative.

8.03

It is the intent of the parties that complaints of nurses shall be adjusted as quickly as possible, and it is understood that a nurse has no grievance until she or he has first given her or his immediate supervisor the opportunity of adjusting the complaint. Such complaint shall be discussed with her or his immediate supervisor within nine (9) calendar days after the circumstances giving rise to it have occurred or ought reasonable to have come to the attention of the nurse. This discussion may include consultation, advice and assistance from others. If there is no settlement within nine (9) calendar days, it shall then be taken up as a grievance within nine (9) calendar days in the following manner and sequence:

Step 1

The nurse may submit a written grievance, signed by the nurse, to the Manager of Human Resources or designate. A meeting shall be arranged with the Grievance Committee within nine (9) calendar days or such longer period as may be arranged upon between the parties. The Manager of Human Resources shall render a decision in writing within nine (9) calendar days of the submission of the grievance. Failing settlement, then:

Step 2

Within nine (9) calendar days of the Manager of Human Resources' decision at Step 1, the written grievance shall be referred to the Chief Executive Officer or designate who shall call a meeting of the Grievance Committee within nine (9) calendar days of receipt of the grievance. Within nine (9) calendar days following the meeting, the Chief Executive Officer or designate shall reply in writing to the nurse and the Chairperson of the Grievance Committee. If the decision is unsatisfactory to the nurse or the Union, the matter may be referred to arbitration as hereinafter provided. The Chief Executive Officer or designate shall be notified in writing.

8.04 Policy Grievance

A complaint or grievance arising directly between the Home and the Union concerning the interpretation, application or alleged violation of the agreement shall be originated at Step 2 within fourteen (14) calendar days following the circumstances giving rise to the complaint or grievance. A grievance by the Employer shall be filed with the Bargaining Unit President or designate.

8.05 Group Grievance

Where a number of nurses have identical grievances and each nurse would be entitled to grieve separately they may present a group grievance in writing signed by each nurse who is grieving to the Manager of Human Resources or designate within fourteen (14) calendar days after the circumstances giving rise to the grievance have occurred or ought reasonably to have come to the attention of the nurses. The grievance shall then be treated as being initiated at Step 1 and the applicable provisions of this article shall then apply with respect to the processing of such grievance.

8.06 The release of a probationary nurse for reasons based on performance and ability to do the job, including skills, suitability and availability shall not be subject to the grievance procedure unless the probationary nurse is released for:

- (a) reasons which are arbitrary, discriminatory or in bad faith;
- (b) exercising a right under this Agreement.

The Employer agrees to provide written reasons to the employee for the release of a probationary nurse within seven (7) days of such release.

A claim by a probationary nurse that she or he has been unjustly released shall be treated as a grievance, provided the nurse is entitled to grieve, if a written statement of such grievance is lodged by the nurse with the Employer at Step 2 within seven (7) days after the date of release is effected.

- 8.07 A claim by a nurse who has completed her probationary period that s/he has been unjustly discharged or suspended shall be treated as a grievance if a written statement of such grievance is lodged by the employee at Step 2 within seven (7) calendar days after the date the discharge or suspension is effected.
- 8.08 Time limits may be extended upon mutual agreement in writing of the parties.
- 8.09 All agreements reached under the grievance procedure between the representatives of the Employer and the representatives of the Union will be final and binding upon the Employer and the Union and the nurses concerned.

ARTICLE 9 – ARBITRATION

9.01 Failing settlement of the grievance under the foregoing procedure, such grievance may be submitted to arbitration. If no written request for arbitration is received within twenty-one (21) calendar days after the decision under Step 2 is given, the grievance shall be deemed to have been abandoned. The party referring the matter to arbitration shall suggest possible arbitrators at the same time.

The parties fail to agree upon an Arbitrator within a period of thirty (30) calendar days, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour for Ontario upon the request of either party. The Arbitrator shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and shall issue a decision, and the decision is final and binding upon the parties and upon any nurse affected by it.

- 9.02 Wherever an arbitrator is referred to in this agreement, the parties may mutually agree in writing to substitute an arbitration board for the single arbitrator at the time of the referral to arbitration and the other provisions referring to arbitrator shall apply accordingly.
- 9.03 The cost and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be borne equally by the parties.
- 9.04 The Arbitrator will not be authorized to make any decision inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, nor to alter, modify, add to or amend any part of the Agreement.
- 9.05 No person may be appointed as an Arbitrator who has been involved in an attempt to negotiate or settle the grievance.

- 9.06 Time limits may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties.
- 9.07 The parties may agree that there are circumstances where the services of a grievance mediator may allow for an objective, independent review of the issue(s) in dispute and assist the parties in resolving grievances.

By mutual agreement the parties may extend the time limits and utilize the services of a Mediator.

The cost of the Mediator will be shared equally between the parties.

ARTICLE 10 – SENIORITY

- 10.01 Seniority shall be defined as length of service with the Employer since date of last hire. Seniority for part-time nurses shall be based upon paid hours accumulated since date of last hire. It is recognized that fifteen hundred (1500) hours equals one (1) year of full-time service.
- The probationary period shall be sixty (60) paid tours. If retained after their probationary period, each nurse's seniority will be dated from the date of last hire.
- The Employer will keep up-to-date seniority lists for full-time and part-time nurses, post the same in a conspicuous place by February 15th, showing accumulated seniority as of December 31st, and supply copies of the current list to the Union. Full-time and part-time seniority lists shall be integrated.
- 10.04 (a) Seniority shall be retained and accumulated when a nurse is absent from work under the following conditions:
 - i) when on leave of absence with pay;
 - ii) when on an approved leave of absence without pay, not exceeding thirty (30) continuous working days;
 - iii) when in receipt of sick leave;
 - iv) when in receipt of Workers' Compensation;
 - v) when on pregnancy or parental leave.
 - (b) Seniority shall be retained but not accumulated when a nurse is absent from work under the following circumstances:
 - i) when on an approved leave of absence without pay exceeding thirty
 (30) continuous working days;
 - ii) when absent on account of accident or illness and not in receipt of sick leave credits;
 - iii) when absent due to layoff.

- (c) A nurse shall lose all service and seniority and shall be deemed to have been terminated if she/he:
 - i) leaves of her/his own accord;
 - ii) is discharged, and the discharge is not reversed through the grievance or arbitration procedure;
 - iii) has been laid off for the lesser of her/his length of seniority or twenty-four (24) calendar months;
 - iv) refused to continue to work or return to work during an emergency which seriously affects the Home's ability to provide adequate resident care unless a satisfactory reason is given to the Home;
 - v) is absent from scheduled work for a period of three or more consecutive working days without notifying the Home of such absence and providing a reason satisfactory to the Home;
 - vi) fails to return to work upon termination of an authorized leave of absence without satisfactory reason or utilizes a leave of absence for purposes other than that for which the leave was granted;
 - vii) fails upon being notified of a recall to signify her/his intention to return within five (5) calendar days after she/he has received the notice of recall mailed by registered mail to the last known address according to the records of the Home and fails to report to work within seven (7) calendar days after she/he has received notice of recall or such further period of time as may be agreed upon by the parties.
- 10.05 In the case of all vacancies, the Employer will post notice of such vacancy, for seven (7) calendar days prior to making an appointment to any such position in order that any interested nurse, may apply.

A copy of such notice shall be sent to the Union. If no qualified nurse applies, the Employer may then hire a new nurse. The Home shall consider any request for transfer, which is currently on file for this vacancy.

10.06 Nurses shall be given on the basis of seniority an opportunity to apply for temporary full-time vacancies. The Employer will outline to the nurse selected to fill a temporary vacancy, the conditions and duration of such vacancy. In any event, such temporary vacancy shall not exceed the time required to complete the specific circumstances, which gave rise to the temporary vacancy. A nurse who is absent due to illness or leave of absence shall have the right to return to her/his former position.

- 10.07 In all cases of transfer or promotion, the following factors shall be considered:
 - (a) skill and ability
 - (b) seniority

Where the factors in (a) are relatively equal, (b) shall govern.

Where the applicant has been selected in accordance with this Article and it is subsequently determined that s/he cannot satisfactorily perform the job to which s/he was promoted, or s/he chooses to return to her or his former position, the Employer will attempt, during the first thirty (30) tours (225 hours for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day) worked from the date on which the nurse was first assigned to the vacancy, to return the nurse to her or his former job, and the filling of the subsequent vacancies will be likewise reversed.

10.08 <u>Layoff and Recall</u>

- (a) Where there is a reduction in the workload resulting in a surplus of nurses, the Employer shall layoff nurses on the basis of reverse order of seniority.
- (b) Nurses shall be recalled in reverse order of layoff, subject to the availability of orientation for any job for which she/he does not feel immediately qualified;
- (c) All nurses who are on layoff will be given job opportunity before any new nurse is hired.
- (d) No nurse will be laid off until she/he has received sixty (60) days notice of layoff or pay in lieu thereof;
- (e) In the event of a proposed layoff of a permanent or long term nature, the Employer will:
 - provide the Association with no less than ninety (90) days' notice of such layoff;
 - ii) meet with the Local Union to review the following:
 - (A) the reasons causing the layoff;
 - (B) the service which the Employer will undertake after the layoff;
 - (C) the method of implementation, including the areas of cutback and the nurses to be laid off.

10.09 Positions Outside the Bargaining Unit

- (a) A nurse, who has been requested to substitute temporarily in a classification that is excluded from the bargaining unit, may refuse to do so.
- (b) An employee who is transferred temporarily to a position outside of the bargaining unit for a period of more than three (3) months, but not more than one (1) year shall retain, but not accumulate, her or his seniority held at the time of the transfer. In the event the employee is returned to a position in the bargaining unit, she or he shall be credited with seniority

held at the time of transfer and resume accumulation from the date of her or his return to the bargaining unit.

An employee must remain in the bargaining unit for a period of at least three (3) months before transferring out of the bargaining unit again or she or he will lose all seniority held at the time of the subsequent transfer.

- (c) Orientation shall be available to a nurse to fill the role of these positions.
- 10.10 Seniority shall be retained by a nurse in the event that she/he is transferred from full-time to part-time or vice versa. For the purposes of application of seniority, the nurse whose status is changed from full-time to part-time shall receive credit for her/his full seniority. In the case of a nurse whose status is changed from part-time to full-time, she/he shall receive credit for seniority based on one year's seniority for each 1500 paid hours. Any hours in excess of the equivalent shall be credited to the nurse, and she/he shall continue to accumulate until she/he reaches the next equivalent.
- 10.11 For purposes of calculating service and seniority for a part-time nurse who is on an approved Pregnancy/Parental Leave, the Employer agrees that the number of hours/tours worked over the preceding twenty-six (26) weeks will be obtained to determine a weekly average.

The Employer will credit the nurse with the average number of hours per week for each week the nurse is on approved Pregnancy/Parental Leave.

ARTICLE 11 - EMPLOYEE FILES

11.01 Any letter of reprimand, suspension or other sanction will be removed from the record of a nurse eighteen (18) months following the receipt of such letter, suspension or other sanction provided that such nurse's record has been discipline free for one year.

ARTICLE 12 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- 12.01 Requests for leave of absence will be considered on an individual basis by the Employer. Such requests are to be made in writing, as far in advance as possible, and a written reply will be given within seven (7) days of the date of such request, except in cases of emergency. If the leave of absence is denied, such written reply shall contain the reasons for the denial. Requests for leave of absence shall not be unduly withheld. It is understood that the leave of absence with or without pay may be granted for purposes other than those listed below, subject to the approval of the Director or designate.
- 12.02 Nurses may be allowed leave of absence with or without pay to attend workshops, which are employment related. Selection of the nurses shall be made on an equitable basis from those who apply to attend such programmes.
- 12.03 Leave of absence with or without pay may be granted, to a nurse who wishes to enrol in a post graduate course, certificate or degree course from a university or community college, or other institutions offering employment related courses.

Such leave may be up to one (1) year in duration. The nurse shall retain, but not accumulate seniority for this period of up to twelve (12) months. Upon return, the nurse shall be returned to his/her former position or one of like circumstances.

Each nurse has the right to request leave with no loss of seniority to a maximum of three (3) working days per year, <u>without pay</u> to attend professional development courses at the nurses' own expense, provided that the course is approved by the Employer and that such leave does not interfere with the efficient operation of the Home.

12.04 Compassionate Leave

The following leave of absence is allowed in the event of a death in a nurse's family:

- (a) Nurse's spouse, son or daughter, seven (7) days.
- (b) Nurse's father, mother, sister, brother, and grandchildren, four (4) days.
- (c) Nurse's Grandparents and in-laws three (son, daughter, father, mother, sister, brother or Grandparents), three (3) days.
- (d) Aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, one (1) day.

Only such time as the nurse would have been scheduled to work shall be paid. Additional leave may be granted by the Chief Executive Officer or Designate.

Extra leave of absence without pay may be granted for travelling time to attend the funeral or equivalent service.

"Spouse" for the purposes of compassionate leave will be defined as in the *Family Law Act*, and will also include a partner of the same sex.

12.05 Pregnancy Leave

- (a) Pregnancy leave will be granted in accordance with the provisions of the <u>Employment Standards Act</u>, except where amended in this provision. A nurse who is eligible for a pregnancy leave may extend the leave for a period of up to twelve (12) months duration, inclusive of any parental leave.
- (b) The nurse shall give written notification at least one four (4) weeks in advance of the date of commencement of such leave and the expected date of return.
- (c) The nurse shall reconfirm her intention to return to work on the date originally approved in subsection (b) above by written notification received by the Home at least four (4) weeks in advance thereof. The nurse shall be reinstated to her former position unless the position has been discontinued in which case she shall be given a comparable job.
- (d) Nurses newly hired to replace nurses who are on approved pregnancy leave may be released and such release shall not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration. If retained by the Home, in a permanent position, the nurse shall be credited with seniority from date of hire subject to

successfully completing her probationary period. The nurse shall be credited with tours worked (hours worked for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day) towards the probationary period provided in Article 10.02 to a maximum of thirty (30) tours (225 hours for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day).

The Home will outline to nurses hired to fill such temporary vacancies the circumstances giving rise to the vacancy and the special conditions relating to such employment.

- (e) The Home may request a nurse to commence pregnancy leave at such time as the duties of her position cannot reasonably be performed by a pregnant woman or the performance or non-performance of her work is materially affected by the pregnancy.
- (f) On confirmation by the Human Resources Development Canada of the appropriateness of the Home's Supplemental Unemployment Benefit (SUB) Plan, a nurse who has successfully completed her probationary period and who is on pregnancy leave as provided under this Agreement who has applied for and is in receipt of Employment Insurance pregnancy benefits pursuant to Section 18 of the Employment Insurance Act, shall be paid a supplemental unemployment benefit. That benefit will be equivalent to the difference between eighty-four percent (84%) of her regular weekly earnings and the sum of her weekly Employment Insurance benefits and any other earnings. Such payment shall commence following completion of the two week Employment Insurance waiting period, and receipt by the Home of the nurse's Employment Insurance cheque stub as proof that she is in receipt of Employment Insurance pregnancy benefits, and shall continue while the nurse is in receipt of such benefits for a maximum period of fifteen (15) weeks. The nurse's regular weekly earnings shall be determined by multiplying her regular hourly rate on her last day worked prior to the commencement of the leave times her normal weekly tours.

The employee does not have any vested right except to receive payments for the covered unemployment period. The plan provides that payments in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the plan.

Note: The Employer will continue to pay its share of the premiums for benefit plans for nurses for a period of up to seventeen (17) weeks while a nurse is on pregnancy leave provided the employee continues to pay her share of the premiums.

12.06 Parental Leave

(a) A nurse who becomes a parent of a child is eligible to take a parental leave in accordance with the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act*, except where amended in this provision. A nurse who is eligible for a parental leave who is the natural father or is an adoptive parent may extend the parental leave for a period of up to twelve (12) months duration, consideration being given to any requirements of adoption authorities.

- (b) A nurse who has taken pregnancy leave under this Article 12.05 is eligible to be granted a parental leave, in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*. A nurse who is eligible for a parental leave who is the natural father or is an adoptive parent may extend the parental leave for a period of up to six (6) months duration, consideration being given to any requirements of adoption authorities. In cases of adoption, the nurse shall advise the Home as far in advance as possible with respect to a prospective adoption and shall request the leave of absence, in writing, upon receipt of confirmation of the pending adoption. If, because of late receipt of confirmation of the pending adoption, the nurse finds it impossible to request the leave of absence in writing the request may be made verbally and subsequently verified in writing.
- (c) The nurse shall be reinstated to her/his former position, unless her/his former position has been discontinued, in which case she/he shall be given a comparable job.
- (d) Nurses newly hired to replace nurses who are on approved parental leave may be released and such release shall not be the subject of grievance or arbitration. If retained by the Home, in a permanent position, the nurse shall be credited with seniority from the date of hire subject to successfully completing her/his probationary period. The nurse shall be credited with tours worked (hours worked for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day) towards the probationary period provided in Article 10.02 to a maximum of 30 tours (225 hours for nurses whose regular hours of work are other than the standard work day).

The Home will outline to nurses hired to fill such temporary vacancies, the circumstances giving rise to the vacancy and the special conditions relating to such employment.

- (e) On confirmation by the Human Resources Development Canada of the appropriateness of the Home's Supplemental Unemployment Benefit (SUB) Plan, a nurse who has successfully completed her/his probationary period and who is on parental leave as provided under this Agreement who has applied for and is in receipt of Employment Insurance parental benefits pursuant to Section 20 of the *Employment Insurance Act*, shall be paid a supplemental unemployment benefit. That benefit will be equivalent to the difference between eighty-four percent (84%) of her/his regular weekly earnings and the sum of her/his weekly Employment Insurance benefits and any other earnings.
- (f) Such payment shall commence following completion of the two (2) week Employment Insurance waiting period, and receipt by the Home of the nurse's Employment Insurance cheque stub as proof that she/he is in receipt of Employment Insurance parental benefits and shall continue while the nurse is in receipt of such benefits for a maximum period of twelve (12) weeks. The nurse's regular weekly earnings shall be determined by multiplying her/his regular hourly rate on her/his last day worked prior to the commencement of the leave times her/his normal weekly hours.

The employee does not have any vested right except to receive payments for the covered unemployment period. The plan provides that payments in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the plan.

Note: The Employer will continue to pay its share of the premiums for benefit plans for nurses for a period of up to thirty-five (35) weeks while a nurse is on parental leave provided the employee continues to pay his/her share of the premiums.

12.07 <u>Jury and Witness Duty</u>

The Employer shall grant leave of absence without loss of seniority to a nurse who serves as a juror, witness in an employment related case, or, witness in a proceeding in which the Crown Attorney is a party. The Employer shall maintain the regular salary of the nurse and the nurse shall refund to the Employer payment received, excluding payment for travel, meals or other expenses.

12.08 (a) Board of Directors' Leave

Nurses elected to the Board of Directors of the Ontario Nurses' Association other than to the office of the President shall be granted leave of absence without pay up to a total of fifty (50) days annually. There shall be no loss of seniority or credits for the purposes of salary advancement and vacation entitlement or other purposes during such leave.

(b) President

A nurse who is elected to the office of President of the Ontario Nurses' Association shall be granted upon request leave of absence without loss of seniority and benefits up to two (2) years. During such leave of absence, salary and benefits will be kept whole by the Employer, and the Union agrees to reimburse the Employer for such salary and Employer contributions to benefits.

(c) Leave of absence for Union business will be given up to a cumulative total of forty-five (45) days per calendar year. Such leave shall not be arbitrarily withheld. During such leave of absence, the nurse's salary and applicable benefits shall be maintained by the Employer, and the Union through its Local agrees to reimburse the Employer in the amount of the salary of the nurse.

(d) <u>Leave of Absence for Employees Who Serve as Local Coordinators for the</u> Ontario Nurses' Association

An employee who serves as Local Coordinator for the Ontario Nurses' Association may be granted leave of absence without pay up to a total of forty-five (45) days annually. Leave of absence for Local Coordinators for the Ontario Nurses' Association will be separate from the Union leave provided in 12.08 (c) above.

(e) Upon application in writing by the Union on behalf of an employee to the Employer, an unpaid leave of absence may be granted to such employee selected for a secondment or a temporary staff position with the Ontario Nurses' Association. Such leave shall not be unreasonably denied or extended beyond twelve (12) months. There shall be no loss of service or seniority for an employee during such leave of absence. It is understood that during such leave the employee shall be deemed to be an employee of the Ontario Nurses' Association. The employee agrees to notify the Employer of her or his intention to return to work at least two (2) weeks prior to the date of such return. The employee shall be reinstated to her or his former position, unless that position has been discontinued, in which case the employee shall be given a comparable job.

12.09 Effect of Absence

If a nurse's absence without pay from the Employer exceeds thirty (30) continuous working days, except for Article 12.05, 12.06 and 12.08, she/he will no longer accumulate seniority or service for any purpose under the Collective Agreement, for the period of absence in excess of thirty (30) continuous working days unless otherwise provided, and the nurse will become responsible for the full payment of any subsidized employee benefits in which she/he is entitled to participate during the period of absence. In the case of unpaid approved leave of absence in excess of thirty (30) continuous working days, the nurse may arrange with the Employer to prepay any applicable benefits during the period of leave in excess of thirty (30) continuous working days.

12.10 Pre-paid Leave Plan

The Employer agrees to introduce a pre-paid leave program, funded solely by the nurse, subject to the following terms and conditions:

- (a) The plan is available to nurses wishing to spread four (4) year's salary over a five (5) year period, in accordance with Part LXVIII of the Income Tax Regulations, Section 6801, to enable them to take a one (1) year leave of absence following the four (4) years of salary deferral.
- (b) The nurse must make written application to the Chief Executive Officer or Designate at least six (6) months prior to the intended commencement date of the program (i.e.; the salary deferral portion), stating the intended purpose of the leave.
- (c) The number of nurses that may be absent at any one (1) time shall be one (1). The year for purposes of the program shall be September 1st of one (1) year to August 31st the following year or such other twelve (12) month period as may be agreed upon by the nurse, the Union and the Employer.
- (d) Written applications will be reviewed by Chief Executive Officer or Designate. Leaves requested for the purpose of pursuing further formal nursing education will be given priority. Applications for leaves requested for other purposes will be given the next level of priority on the basis of seniority.

- (e) During the four (4) years of salary deferral, twenty percent (20%) of the nurse's gross annual earnings will be deducted and held for the nurse and will not be accessible to her/him until the year of the leave or upon withdrawal from the plan.
- (f) The manner in which the deferred salary is held shall be at the discretion of the Employer.
- (g) All deferred salary, plus accrued interest, if any, shall be paid to the nurse at the commencement of the leave or in accordance with such other payment schedule as may be agreed upon between the Employer and the nurse.
- (h) All benefits shall be kept whole during the four (4) years of salary deferral. During the year of the leave, seniority will accumulate. Service for the purpose of vacation and salary progression and other benefits will be retained but will not accumulate during the period of leave. The nurse shall become responsible for the full payment of premiums for any health and welfare benefits in which she/he is participating. Contributions to the OMERS will be in accordance with the Plan. The nurses will not be eligible to participate in the disability income plan during the year of the leave.
- (i) A nurse may withdraw from the plan at any time during the deferral portion provided three (3) months' notice is given the Chief Executive Officer or Designate. Deferred salary, plus accrued interest, if any, will be returned to the nurse, within a reasonable period of time.
- (j) If the nurse terminates employment, the deferred salary held by the Employer plus accrued interest, if any will be returned to the nurse within a reasonable period of time. In case of the nurse's death, the funds will be paid to the nurse's estate.
- (k) The Employer will endeavour to find a temporary replacement for the nurse as far in advance as practicable. If the Employer is unable to find a suitable replacement, it may postpone the leave. The Employer will give the nurse as much notice as is reasonably possible.
 - The nurse will have the option of remaining in the Plan and rearranging the leave at a mutually agreeable time or of withdrawing from the Plan and having the deferred salary, plus accrued interest, if any, paid out to her/his within a reasonable period of time.
- (I) The nurse will be reinstated to her/his former position unless the position has been discontinued, in which case she/he shall be given a comparable job.
- (m) Final approval for entry into the pre-paid leave program will be subject to the nurse entering into a formal agreement with the Employer in order to authorize the Employer to make the appropriate deductions from the nurse's pay. Such agreement will include:
 - i) A statement that the nurse is entering the pre-paid leave program in accordance with Article 12.11 of the Collective Agreement.

- ii) The period of salary deferral and the period for which the leave is requested.
- iii) The manner in which the deferred salary is to be held.

The letter of application from the nurse to the Employer to enter the pre-paid leave program will be appended to and form part of the written agreement.

ARTICLE 13 - PAID HOLIDAYS

13.01 All nurses shall receive the following holidays without loss of pay:

New Year's Day

Family Day

Good Friday

Easter Monday

Victoria Day

Canada Day

Civic Holiday

Labour Day

Thanksgiving Day

Remembrance Day

Christmas Day

Boxing Day

plus any day proclaimed as a Public Holiday by the Mayor of the Corporation of the City of Peterborough.

If any day is proclaimed as a public holiday by the Mayor of the Corporation of the City of Peterborough, the parties will meet to agree on a designation from the above-noted list.

13.02 It is agreed that the operation of the Home requires that all nurses cannot take the particular day off that has been allocated for the observance as a holiday. Therefore, a nurse required to work shall be paid in the following manner:

(a) Full Time Employees Only:

She/he shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1 1/2) times her/his regular rate, plus a lieu day at her/his regular rate.

(b) Full Time Employees Only:

She/he may elect to be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1 1/2) times her/his rate of pay, plus holiday pay, and forfeit the lieu day.

If the nurse selects option (b), she/he must notify her/his department head, in writing, of her/his intent thirty (30) days prior to the date of the paid holiday. When a holiday falls on a nurse's normal day off, she/he shall be granted an additional lieu day with pay.

(c) Full Time Employees Only:

A nurse shall be allowed to accumulate five (5) lieu days to be taken at a mutually agreeable time. It is agreed that the nurse will notify the Human Resource Manager or designate of her/his desire to accumulate these lieu days at least fourteen (14) days in advance of the paid holiday.

- (d) In order to qualify for pay for a holiday, a nurse shall complete her/his full scheduled shift on each of the working days immediately preceding and following the holiday concerned unless excused by the Home or if a nurse was absent due to:
 - legitimate illness or accident, which commenced within a month of the date of the holiday;
 - ii) vacation granted by the Home;
 - iii) the nurse's regular scheduled day off;
 - iv) a paid leave of absence provided the nurse is not otherwise compensated for the holiday.
- 13.03 A tour that begins or ends during the twenty-four (24) hour period of the above holidays where the majority of hours worked falls within the holiday shall be deemed to be work performed on the holiday for the full period of the tour.
- When a holiday falls within a nurse's vacation period or on a day off it shall be scheduled as a day off at a future date as mutually agreeable. Requests cannot be unreasonably denied.
- When a paid holiday falls on a Monday, the Employer will, if possible, schedule the working tours so that nurses will either be working or be scheduled off on the holidays and adjacent weekends.

ARTICLE 14 – VACATION

- 14.01 All full-time nurses shall receive vacation with pay based on the length of full-time continuous service as follows:
 - (a) Employees who have completed less than one year shall be entitled to a vacation on the basis of 1.25 days for each completed month of service with pay in the amount of six percent (6%) of gross earnings.
 - (b) Employees who have completed one (1) or more years of full-time continuous service shall be entitled to an annual vacation of three (3) weeks with three (3) weeks of pay.
 - (c) Employees who have completed three (3) or more years of full-time continuous service shall be entitled to an annual vacation of four (4) weeks with four (4) weeks of pay.
 - (d) Employees who have completed eleven (11) or more years of full-time continuous service shall be entitled to an annual vacation of five (5) weeks with five (5) weeks of pay.
 - (e) Employees who have completed eighteen (18) or more years of full-time continuous service shall be entitled to an annual vacation of six (6) weeks with six (6) weeks of pay.
 - (f) Employees who have completed twenty-five (25) or more years of full-time continuous service shall be entitled to an annual vacation of seven (7) weeks with seven (7) weeks of pay.

Part-Time or Less Than Continuous

A part-time employee, or a full-time employee who has not actually worked for more than ten months in the vacation year shall be granted vacation on the following basis:

- (a) Less than one year 6% vacation pay and a pro rata amount of time;
- (b) One or more years 6% vacation pay and three weeks of vacation;
- (c) Three or more years (600 tours to 2199 tours) 8% vacation pay and four weeks of vacation;
- (d) Eleven or more years (2200 tours to 3599 tours) 10% vacation pay and five weeks of vacation;
- (e) Eighteen or more years (3600 tours or more) 12% vacation pay and six weeks of vacation.
- (f) Twenty-five or more years (5000 tours or more) 14% vacation pay and seven weeks of vacation.
- 14.02 When a nurse's employment is terminated for any reason, full payment for vacation earned but not taken will form a portion of such nurse's termination pay.
- 14.03 (a) Vacation may be taken at any time of the year, except during the Christmas, New Year's period (December 15th to January 15th).
 - (b) In the event of conflicts, seniority shall prevail.
 - (c) Once vacation has been granted it shall not be changed unless mutually agreed.
 - (d) Vacations may be taken in single days up to fifteen (15) days.
- 14.04 Part-time nurses will be paid their vacation pay in the form of payment for time not worked for all vacation days taken. The calculation will be based upon the prior years vacation accumulation and will be reflected on the nurse's bi-weekly pay stub.

Any unused vacation pay will be paid out to the nurse on the last pay of each year. Nurses will not be allowed to carry vacation money into the next calendar year.

- 14.05 Vacation requests shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 14.06 (a) The Home will post by November 1st of each year a vacation request list for the months of January 15th to December 30th. Nurses will signify their vacation choice in order of seniority by November 15th. Confirmation vacation request will be posted by December 1st.

(b) A nurse may not schedule more than two (2) weeks' vacation during the period June 15th to September 15th inclusive until all nurses who so request have been scheduled for vacation during this period.

A nurse may request an extension due to extenuating circumstances and this request may not be unreasonably denied.

- (c) Vacation time available after the confirmed vacation request has been posted, will be granted in accordance with the date of the request, not seniority. The Employer shall give a written response to the request within seven (7) business days of receipt of the request indicating approval or denial.
- 14.07 (a) Where a nurse's scheduled vacation is interrupted due to a serious illness which requires medical treatment and commenced before and continues into the scheduled vacation period, the period of such illness shall be considered sick leave provided the employee provides satisfactory documentation of the medical treatment.
 - (b) Where a vacationing nurse becomes seriously ill requiring him or her to be an inpatient in a hospital, the period of such illness shall be considered sick leave provided that the employee provides satisfactory documentation of the hospitalization.
 - (c) The portion of the nurse's vacation which is deemed to be sick leave under the above provisions will not be counted against the employee's vacation credits.
 - (d) Where a nurse's scheduled vacation is interrupted due to a bereavement, the nurse shall be entitled to compassionate leave in accordance with Article 12.04.
 - (e) The portion of the nurse's vacation which is deemed to be compassionate leave under the above provision will not be counted against the nurse's vacation credits.

ARTICLE 15 - SICK LEAVE

15.01 The Home will assume total responsibility for providing and funding a short-term sick leave plan at least equivalent to that described in the 1980 Hospitals of Ontario Disability Income Plan (HOODIP) brochure.

The Home will pay seventy-five percent (75%) of the billed premium towards coverage of eligible full-time employees under the long-term disability portion of the plan (HOODIP or an equivalent plan). The employee will pay the balance of the billed premium through payroll deduction.

15.02 When a nurse has completed any portion of her/his regularly scheduled tour prior to going on sick leave benefits or Workers' Compensation benefits, she/he shall be paid for the balance of the tour at her/his regular straight time hourly rate.

This provision will not disentitle the nurse to a lieu day under Article 13.02 (a) if she/he otherwise qualifies.

- Any dispute, which may arise concerning a nurse's entitlement to short-term or long-term benefits under HOODIP, may be subject to grievance and arbitration under the provisions of this Agreement.
- The Home further agrees to pay employees an amount equal to any loss of benefits under HOODIP for the first [1st] two (2) days of the fourth [4th] and subsequent period of absence in any calendar year.
- 15.05 Absences due to pregnancy related illness shall be considered as sick leave under the sick leave plan.
- A nurse who is absent from work as a result of an illness or injury sustained at work and who has been awaiting approval of a claim for Workplace Safety and Insurance Board benefits for a period longer than one (1) complete pay period may apply to the Home for payment equivalent to the lesser of the benefit she/he would receive from Workplace Safety and Insurance Board if her/his claim was approved, or the benefit to which she/he would be entitled under the short term sick portion of the disability income plan (HOODIP or equivalent plan).

Payment will be provided only if the nurse provides evidence of disability satisfactory to the Home and a written undertaking satisfactory to the Home that any payments will be refunded to the Home following final determination of the claim by the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board. If the claim for Workplace Safety and Insurance Board benefits is not approved, the monies paid as an advance will be applied towards the benefits to which the nurse would be entitled under the short-term portion of the disability income plan. Any payment under this provision will continue for a maximum of fifteen (15) weeks.

- A nurse may be required to produce a certificate from a qualified medical practitioner for any illness in excess of three (3) working days, certifying that such nurse is unable to carry out her/his duties due to illness.
- All part-time and full-time nurses who are absent for more than one (1) month must furnish immediately following each such period of absence a certificate from her/his physician certifying that such nurse is unable to carry out his/her duties due to illness, the date the physician attended to the nurse, and the probable date on which the nurse will return to duty.

The Employer may request a medical certificate for absences of three working days or more.

15.09 Nurses shall notify the Home whenever possible at least four (4) hours in advance of the start of the shift, with the exception of the 7:00 a.m. shift in which two (2) hours advance notice shall apply, if unable to work due to illness.

ARTICLE 16 - HOURS OF WORK AND WORKING CONDITIONS

Normal tour shall be composed of 7.5 consecutive hours, exclusive of mealtime, with the exception of the 2300 – 0700 tour, which shall have a paid meal break.

Normal workweek shall be composed of five (5) tours, that is 37.5 hours per week, with the exception of the 2300 – 0700 position that is forty (40) hours per week.

One-half (1/2) hour unpaid meal period shall be scheduled during a nurse's tour. A nurse working the 2300 – 0700 shall be paid for their meal break. Should the nurse be recalled to duty during a meal break, additional time shall be provided later in the tour or the nurse shall be paid at overtime rates.

It is understood that the paid meal break for the 2300 - 0700 tour is in effect as long as there is only one (1) nurse on duty.

16.03 <u>Scheduling</u>

(a) Two (2) consecutive days off will be scheduled during each workweek, and schedules will provide for not more than seven (7) consecutive days of work.

The full-time nurse when scheduled to work a schedule of seven (7) consecutive days may have the option of dropping one (1) day from such schedule provided:

- (i) such arrangements are requested seven (7) days in advance;
- (ii) the full-time nurse will arrange her/his own replacement;
- (iii) the day the replacement can be scheduled is restricted to either Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday;
- (iv) there will be no additional cost to the Home;
- (v) such change in schedule is approved by the Manager or designate.
- (vi) for purposes of this Article 16.09 shall be deemed not to exist;
- (vii) if approval is denied, the reasons for the denial shall be given to the nurse in writing.
- (b) The time schedules shall be posted two (2) weeks in advance and shall cover a four (4) week period, and shall not be changed by the Employer once posted. The Employer will endeavour to accommodate requests by nurses for specific days off and also requests for changes in the posted time schedules once the schedule has been posted, provided such request is submitted to the Human Resources in writing.
- (c) Full-time and regular part-time nurses will receive every second (2nd) weekend off, and should a nurse be required to work on a second (2nd) subsequent weekend, she/he shall be paid at overtime rates save and except when:
 - i) Such weekend has been worked by the nurse to satisfy specific days off requested by such nurse, or
 - ii) Such nurse has requested weekend work, or
 - iii) Such weekend is worked as the result of an exchange of shifts with another nurse.
- (d) The Employer shall schedule each employee off for five (5) consecutive days at either Christmas or New Year's.

The days off at Christmas shall include December 24th, December 25th and December 26th and the days off at New Year's shall include December 31st and January 1st. For purposes of clarity, it is understood that no employee will have a right to be scheduled off over Christmas in two (2) consecutive years or over New Year's in two (2) consecutive years.

In the event that the schedule can accommodate one or more nurses having both Christmas and New Year's off, requests shall be determined by seniority. Such request shall be made by October 1st.

Christmas schedule to be posted no later than October 15th.

- (e) The Employer agrees not to change the tours of duty for presently employed nurses working on permanent tours except by mutual consent.
- (f) A nurse who reports for work as scheduled shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours' pay.
- (g) For the purpose of exchanging scheduled tours nurses will be allowed to continue to change their tours in accordance with past practice, subject to the approval of the Human Resources Manager.

No overtime will be paid as a result of an exchange of shifts.

(h) Regular part-time employees will be scheduled as required by the Employer, to work a minimum of eight (8) tours of duty per month. These employees are required to provide a minimum of one (1) day availability every two (2) week pay period.

Once the schedule has been posted, all additional and or call-in tours will be offered in order of seniority to regular part-time employees who can perform the work at the straight time rate of pay. Where no regular part-time employees are available at the straight time rate of pay the tour will be offered to casual part-time employees in order of seniority.

Where premium (overtime) tours become available such tours shall be offered to employees on the basis of seniority

(i) Casual part-time nurses are required to provide a minimum of every other weekend availability. The Employer has the right to schedule nurses as required on their available weekend to ensure staffing coverage for the Home. The Nurse will be notified of the shift. (Chit system will not be used.)

Note – Article 16.03 (i) will remain in effect until the end of the last full pay period in July 2017. After which time it will be considered to have been removed from the Collective Agreement and will have no effect.

16.04 Standard Day for Overtime Payment

The standard day for all nurses covered by this Agreement shall be defined as a twenty-four (24) hour period beginning at:

 Day Tour
 0700 1500

 Evening Tour
 1500 2300

 Night Tour
 2300 0700

No nurse shall have her/his present tour changed except by mutual consent.

16.05 Overtime

Nurses shall not normally be scheduled or required to work in excess of normally scheduled hours or days. The nurse may have the option of selecting compensating time off at the appropriate premium rate without loss of pay in lieu of overtime and premium payment. Flex time hours must equal 6.0 hours (minimum) to replace one shift in the schedule.

- (a) Work in excess of 7.5 hours in a standard day or 37.5 hours in a standard week, with the exception of those scheduled the 2300 0700 tour who receive a paid meal break shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half (1½). No overtime premium shall be paid for a period of less than fifteen (15) minutes of overtime worked where the nurse is engaged in reporting functions at the end of her/his standard day. If authorized overtime amounts to fifteen (15) minutes or more overtime premium shall be paid for the total period in excess of the standard day.
- (b) When a full-time nurse works on her/his days off such nurse will be compensated at the rate of time and one-half (1 ½).
- (c) Full-time and part-time nurses shall be paid time and one-half (1 ½) for all work performed after working seven (7) consecutive tours without two (2) days off until such days off are granted.
- (d) Time and one-half (1 ½) shall be paid where a full-time or regular part-time nurse does not receive every other weekend off in accordance with Article 16.03 c).
- (e) Overtime compensation of double her/his normal hourly rate shall be paid to a nurse for all work performed in excess of seven and one-half (7 ½) hours on any tour for which she/he is receiving time and one-half (1 ½) her/his hourly rate.
- (f) A nurse will be paid for the hours that she/he works when changes are made from daylight saving to standard and vice versa.
- A nurse who is requested to work a second (2nd) consecutive full tour without previously being booked will be provided at the time of the meal period with soup and sandwiches, or alternative available food after all the Residents have been served.

A nurse who is required to work four (4) hours or less overtime on the same day as they have worked, shall not be required to take a meal period and will be paid for all hours worked.

16.07 The Employer agrees to ensure that report is given to all nurses on each shift.

16.08 <u>Call-in</u>

Where a full-time nurse has completed her/his regularly scheduled tour and left the Home and is called in to work outside her/his regularly scheduled working hours, she/he shall receive time and one half (1 ½) her/his regular straight time hourly rate for all hours worked with a minimum guarantee of four (4) hours pay at time and one half (1 ½) her/his regular straight time hourly rate except to the extent that such (4) hour period overlaps or extends into her/his regularly scheduled shift. In such a case, she/he will receive time and one half (1 ½) her/his regular straight time hourly rate for actual hours worked up to the commencement of her/his regular shift.

16.09 Benefits for Part-time Employees Working Temporary Full-time

A part-time nurse who is temporarily working on a full-time basis for a known duration of at least three (3) months shall have the choice of:

- (a) continuing to receive her percentage in lieu of benefits in accordance with Appendix A-01; or
- (b) receiving all of the benefits and rights accorded to a full-time nurse under the collective agreement.

ARTICLE 17 - HEALTH PROGRAMME

- 17.01 A nurse who contracts any infectious disease in the performance of her/his duties shall receive full treatment and medication at the expense of the Employer.
- 17.02 The Employer will provide change rooms, lounge facilities and lockers.

ARTICLE 18 – BENEFITS

18.01 The Employer will contribute as follows:

(a) Full-time Nurses

- i) To Group Life 100% of billed premium. The employer will increase the Life Insurance to two (2) times the salary. The Group Life plan shall include a rider for optional spousal coverage which premium shall be 100% paid by the employee through payroll deduction. The plan includes up to \$25,000 without a medical and thereafter, a medical is required.
- ii) Extended Health Care Benefits one hundred percent (100%) of the billed premium. Benefits will include hearing aids (maximum five

hundred (\$500.00) per person), and vision care, including laser surgery (maximum four hundred and twenty five dollars (\$425) every twenty-four (24) months).

In addition to the above, vision care shall include one eye exam per person every 24 months up to a maximum of seventy-five dollars (\$75). Where OHIP contributes to the cost of the eye exam, OHIP shall be the first payer.

Extended Health Care benefits include chiropractic and massage therapy, to a maximum of five hundred dollars (\$500)/ insured person annually combined.

The deductible Extended Health Care Benefits will be \$22.50/single and \$35.00/family.

- iii) To Semi-private Liberty Health 75% of the billed premium.
- iv) To Liberty Health Dental Plan #9 (current ODA Fee Schedule) 100% of billed premium. Such plan shall include dentures (partial and full with replacements) 50/50 co-insurance to one thousand dollars (\$1,000) per insured lifetime, orthodontics 50/50 co-insurance with one thousand dollars (\$1,000) maximum per insured lifetime, crowns, bridgework and repairs to same (major restorative) 50/50 co-insurance to two thousand (\$2,000) maximum per insured lifetime, providing the balance of the monthly premiums are paid by the employees through payroll deduction.
- v) The pension plan for the Home shall be the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System.
- vi) Semi private hospital insurance, dental and extended health care benefits will be extended to active full-time nurses from the age of 65 up to the 70th birthday on the same cost share as applies to those nurses under the age of 65. All other benefits shall cease at age 65. LTD & Life Insurance ceases at age 65.
- vii) Only at the time of retirement full-time nurses will have the option to continue enrollment in the benefit plan outlined in Article 18 post retirement.

Nurses who choose this option will be responsible for 100% of the premium costs and shall submit to the Employer, monthly postdated cheques for each Calendar Year.

The nurse will no longer be eligible for participation in the benefit plan once she/he has reached the age of seventy (70).

(b) Part-time Nurses

See Schedule "A"

(c) Any reduction in EI premiums that are a result of benefits including sick leave granted by the Employer will be applied to the cost of existing or improved benefits for employees. Such reduction would include not only the Employer's share but the employee's share of the reduction.

The parties have agreed that during the life of the contract, the Employer may change carrier(s) to secure best rates for comparable services. The carrier name(s) will be amended in the Collective Agreement at subsequent negotiations.

ARTICLE 19 - MISCELLANEOUS

- 19.01 The Employer shall provide bulletin board space for the use of the Union.
- 19.02 A copy of this Agreement in mutually agreed form will be issued to each nurse now employed and as employed. The cost of printing this agreement shall be equally shared between the Union and the Employer.
- 19.03 The Employer shall continue to provide adequate parking space for the nurses without charge.
- 19.04 If a room is available, the Employer shall grant permission to the Union to hold meetings on the Employer's premises upon written requests.
- 19.05 All official communications shall be between the Chief Executive Officer or Designate of the Home and the Local's representative on staff at Fairhaven with the exception of correspondence or communications pertaining to grievances where correspondence shall be between the Chief Executive Officer or Designate of the Home and the Ontario Nurses' Association.
- 19.06 Whistle Blowing Protection

Provided a nurse has followed reasonable policies or procedures issued by the Employer to protect the Employer's entitlement to investigate and address any allegation of wrongdoing, nurses will not be subject to discipline or reprisal for the reasonable exercise of their professional obligations.

ARTICLE 20 - WAGES

20.01 The hourly salary rates, inclusive of the percentage in lieu of fringe benefits in effect during the term of this Agreement for all regular and casual part-time nurses shall be those calculated in accordance with the following formula:

Applicable straight time hourly rate + thirteen percent (13%) - effective July 8, 1992.

The hourly salary rates payable to a regular or casual part-time nurse include compensation in lieu of all fringe benefits which are paid to full-time nurses except those specifically provided to part-time nurses in this Agreement.

It is understood and agreed that holiday pay is included in the percentage in lieu of fringe benefits. It is further understood and agreed that pension is included within the percentage in lieu of fringe benefits.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, all part-time nurses may, on a voluntary basis, enrol in the Home's Pension Plan when eligible in accordance with its terms and conditions. For part-time nurses who are members of the Pension Plan, the percentage in lieu of fringe benefits is nine percent (9%).

It is understood and agreed that the part-time nurse's hourly rate (or straight time hourly rate) in this Agreement does not include the additional nine percent (9%) or thirteen percent (13%), as applicable, which is paid in lieu of fringe benefits and accordingly the nine percent (9%) or thirteen percent (13%), as applicable, add on payment in lieu of fringe benefits will not be included for the purpose of computing any premium or overtime payments.

22.02 Shift Differential

Effective the date of ratification a nurse shall be paid a shift premium of two dollars and ten cents (\$2.10) per hour for each hour worked which falls within the hours defined as an evening shift and two dollars and twenty-five cents (\$2.25) for each hour worked which falls within the hours defined as a night shift.

Effective, the date of ratification a nurse shall be paid a weekend premium of two dollars and twenty cents (\$2.20) per hour for each hour worked between 2400 hours Friday and 2400 hours Sunday. If a nurse is receiving premium pay under Article 16.03 (c), the nurse will not receive weekend premium under this provision.

22.03 Responsibility Allowance

A responsibility premium of one dollar and seventy-five cents (\$1.75) per hour will be paid to a designated nurse between the hours of 1700 and 0800, Monday through Friday inclusive and all shifts on a Saturday, Sunday or Statutory Holidays.

- 22.04 All changes in salary, whether the result of promotion, demotion, filing with the Employer of proof of registration or attainment of a service anniversary date shall be effective on the date of such occurrence.
- 22.05 (a) Each full-time employee will be advanced from her or his present level to the next level set out in the Salary Schedule, twelve (12) months after she or he was last advanced on her or his service review date. If a full-time employee's absence without pay from the Employer exceeds thirty (30) continuous calendar days during each twelve (12) month period, the employee's service review date will be extended by the length of such absence in excess of thirty (30) continuous calendar days.
 - (b) Each part-time employee will be advanced from her or his present level on the salary schedule to the next level on the salary schedule after obtaining one year's service credit, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Article 10.01.

22.06 Recognition of Experience

Claim for recent related clinical experience, if any, shall be made in writing by the nurse at the time of hiring on the application for employment form or otherwise. The nurse shall co-operate with the Home by providing verification of previous experience so that her/his recent related clinical experience may be determined and evaluated during her/his probationary period. Having established the recent related clinical experience, the Home will credit a new nurse with one (1) annual service increment for every year of experience.

If a period of more than three (3) years has elapsed since the nurse has occupied a full-time or part-time nursing position, then the number of increments to be paid, if any, shall be at the discretion of the Home, provided that such discretion shall be exercised in a reasonable manner.

This provision shall apply to nurses currently employed by the Home effective the date of the award and shall not involve any retroactivity.

22.07 Retroactivity

Retroactivity for wages shall be on the basis of time worked during the relevant period. Effective upon ratification, wages shall be retroactive to April 1, 2016, and will be paid within six (6) weeks of settlement/award. Such payment shall be made separately from the normal bi-weekly pay.

The Employer will notify nurses who have left its employ after April 1, 2016, at the last address recorded with the Employer, that retroactive payments will be directly deposited into the bank account last recorded in the payroll system and that itemized payslips confirming the date and amount of the deposit will be mailed out to the last address on file. The Employer will provide the Local Union with a copy of the notices sent.

22.08 Re-alignment of Duties and Establishment of New Position

- (a) When the duties of a position covered by this Agreement are changed or when a new position appropriately covered by this Agreement is established, notification of the change and a job description will be forwarded to the Union and the salary shall be negotiated. If the parties are unable to agree, such a dispute may be submitted to arbitration. The salary shall be retroactive to the time the position was first [1st] filled by the nurse.
- 22.09 (a) The employer will schedule sixteen (16) hours off between shifts on the master schedule, should the employer schedule with less than sixteen (16) hours off between shifts the employee will receive one and a half times the nurse's regular rate of pay for the short shifting.
 - (b) The employee has the right to refuse any shifts with less than sixteen (16) hours off between shifts. Should a nurse accept a call-in for 7.5 hour shift which results in him/her having less than sixteen (16) hours off between shifts the premium pay identified in paragraph (a) above does not apply.

(c) Where the nurse works with fourteen (14) hours, or less between shifts as a result of working approved overtime, or having been called-in prior to the normal start time of a shift the nurse will receive one and one half times their regular rate of pay.

ARTICLE 21 - ORIENTATION AND IN SERVICE

21.01 A newly employed nurse shall not be placed on duty or in charge until she/he has been fully oriented to the Home except in cases of emergency.

ARTICLE 22 - PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY

- In the event that the Employer assigns a number of residents or a workload to an individual nurse or group of nurses such that she/he or they have cause to believe that she/he or they are being asked to perform more work than is consistent with proper resident care, she/he or they shall:
 - (a) At the time the workload issue occurs, discuss the issue within the home to develop strategies to meet patient care needs using current resources.

If necessary, using established lines of communication as identified by the home, seek immediate assistance from an individual(s) (who could be within the bargaining unit) who has responsibility for timely resolution of workload issues.

Failing resolution of the workload issue at the time of occurrence or if the issue is ongoing the nurse(s) will discuss the issue with her or his Manager or designate on the next day that the Manager (or designate) and the nurse are both working or within ten (10) calendar days whichever is sooner.

When meeting with the manager, the nurse(s) may request the assistance of a Union representative to support/assist her/him at the meeting.

- (b) Complain in writing to the Labour Management Committee within five (5) calendar days of the alleged improper assignment. The Chairman of the Labour Management Committee shall convene a meeting of the Committee within ten (10) calendar days of the filing of the complaint. The Committee shall hear and attempt to resolve the complaint to the satisfaction of both parties.
- (c) Failing resolution of the complaint within five (5) calendar days of the meeting of the Labour Management Committee the complaint shall be forwarded to an independent assessment committee composed of three (3) Registered Nurses; one (1) chosen by the Ontario Nurses', one (1) chosen by the Employer, and one (1) chosen from a panel of four (4) independent registered nurses who are well respected within the profession. The member of the independent Registered Nurses shall act as Chairperson.
- (d) The Assessment Committee shall set a date to conduct the hearing into the complaint within fourteen (14) calendar days of its appointment and shall

be empowered to investigate as is necessary and make what findings as are appropriate in the circumstances. The Assessment Committee shall report its findings in writing to the parties within thirty (30) calendar days following completion of its hearing.

- (e) A list of Chairpersons (Assessment Committee) is attached to and forms part of this Agreement.
- (f) The parties agree that should a chairperson be required, the chairperson will be the top name on the list of chairpersons who has not previously been assigned. Should the chairperson who is scheduled to serve decline when requested or it becomes obvious that she/he would not be suitable due to connections with the Employer or community, the next person on the list will be contacted to act as Chairperson.
- (g) Each party will bear the cost of its own nominee and will share equally the fee of the Chairperson and whatever other expenses are incurred by the Assessment Committee in the performance of its responsibilities as set out herein.

ARTICLE 23 – JOB SHARING

Job sharing requests with regard to full-time positions shall be considered on an individual basis. There will be a maximum of two (2) job sharing positions allowed at any time.

Total hours worked by the job sharer shall equal one (1) full-time position. The division of these hours or the schedule shall be determined by agreement between the two (2) nurses and Management.

Where the job sharing arrangement arises out of the filling of a vacant full-time position, both job-sharing positions will be posted and selection will be based on the criteria set out in the Collective Agreement.

An incumbent full-time nurse wishing to share her position, may do so without having her half of the position posted. The other half of the job sharing position will be posted and selection will be made on the criteria set out in the Collective Agreement.

- Job sharers who were previously full-time and participating in OMERS will receive 9% in lieu of benefits and continue to be a member of OMERS. The Employer will continue to pay its share of OMERS contributions on behalf of said employees.
- 23.03 The above schedules shall conform with the scheduling provisions of the full-time nurses. In all other respects job sharers shall be considered part-time.
- It is anticipated that each job sharer will endeavour to maintain the continuity of care to the residents by covering the tours of the job sharing partner arising through absence, including vacation. Where a job sharer is going to be absent she will first contact her job sharing partner to determine her availability to work the tour.

Each job sharer may exchange shifts with her partner according to the Shift Change Policy in place. It is understood such exchanges shall not result in the application of overtime premiums. Where the job sharing partner is unavailable for such exchange, the shift may be exchanged with another part-time nurse upon request.

If one of the job sharers leaves the arrangement, the position will be offered to the remaining job sharer as a full-time position. If the job sharer does not wish to accept the full-time position, the vacant position will be posted. If there is no successful internal applicant for the posted shared position, the Employer may in its discretion advertise the posting externally or the shared position will revert to a full-time position which shall be posted in accordance with the Collective Agreement.

Either party may discontinue the job sharing arrangement with sixty (60) calendar days' notice. Upon receipt of such notice a meeting shall be held between the parties within fifteen (15) days to discuss the discontinuation. It is understood and agreed that such discontinuation shall not be unreasonable or arbitrary.

ARTICLE 24 – DURATION OF AGREEMENT

24.01 This agreement shall run from March 31, 2016 to March 31, 2018, and shall continue in force from year to year thereafter unless written notice shall have been given by either party within the period of ninety (90) days prior to March 31, 2018.

SIGNING PAGE

DATED AT Peterborough	, Ontario, this31 st , day of _May, 2017.
FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION
"Lionel Towns" CEO	"Mark Miller" Labour Relations Officer
"Betty Hazen"	<u>"Erica Vaughan"</u> Bargaining Unit President
"Cindy Tengelics" Human Resource Manager	

APPENDIX 'A'

SALARY SCHEDULES

Registered Nurse

	Effective April 1, 2		Effective April 1, 2017
Start	\$	31.92	\$ 32.69
1 Year	\$	32.40	\$ 32.85
2 Years	\$	32.94	\$ 33.41
3 Years	\$	34.56	\$ 35.04
4 Years	\$	36.19	\$ 36.70
5 Years	\$	38.23	\$ 38.76
6 Years	\$	40.28	\$ 40.84
7 Years	\$	42.34	\$ 42.94
8 Years	\$	45.36	\$ 45.99
25 Years	\$	46.15	\$ 46.79

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

Between:			
FAIRHAVEN HOME FOR	SENIOR CITIZENS		
And:			
ONTARIO NURSES' ASSOCIATION			
Re: Administering Certain Medications			
It is recognized that under governing legislation, R medications. In these instances the parties agree for any incidents resulting from RPN distribution of	that the Registered Nurse is not responsible		
RENEWED AT Peterborough, Ontai	rio, this31 st , day of _May, 2017		
FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION		
"Lionel Towns" CEO	"Mark Miller" Labour Relations Officer		
"Betty Hazen"	<u>"Erica Vaughan"</u> Bargaining Unit President		
"Cindy Tengelics" Human Resources Manager			

CHAIRPERSONS - NURSING ASSESSMENT COMMITTEES

NURSING HOMES AND HOMES FOR THE AGED

The following nurses have allowed their names to stand as Chairpersons - Nursing Assessment Committee:

- Carol Anderson
 16151 Old Simcoe Road
 Port Perry, ON L9L 1P2
- Claire Mallette
 Director, School of Nursing
 York University
 Rm 313, HNES
 4700 Keele Street
 Toronto, ON M3J 1P3
- Donna Rothwell
 Senior Consultant
 Healthtech Consultants
 56 Carriage Road
 St. Catharines, ON L2P 1T1
- 4. Leslie Vincent 716 Windermere Ave. Toronto, ON M6S 3M1

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

R	et	۱۸/	Δ	Δ	n	
יט	σι	٧V	ᆫ	ᆫ		

FAIRHAVEN HOME FOR SENIOR CITIZENS

And:

ONTARIO NURSES' ASSOCIATION

Re: Supernumerary Positions

The Employer may introduce supernumerary positions to be offered to newly graduated nurses. Where such positions are introduced, the following will apply:

- 1. Only so many positions will be created as are covered by government funding for supernumerary positions;
- 2. Newly graduated nurses are defined as those nurses who have graduated from a nursing program or refresher program within the last year;
- 3. No appointment will be made to a supernumerary position without prior discussion with the Union as to where the supernumerary nurses will be assigned, what will be expected of them, and what mentoring arrangement will apply (see 6 below);
- 4. Such positions will not be subject to internal postings or request for transfer processes outlined in Article 11.07;
- 5. Such nurses will be full-time and covered by the full-time collective agreement;
- 6. Such nurses will be in formal mentorship arrangements in accordance with Article 10.13 and the Letter of Understanding on Mentoring;
- 7. The duration of such supernumerary appointments will be for the period of funding (currently 7.5 months) or such other period as the parties may agree, provided such period is not less than twelve (12) weeks;
- 9. Such nurses can apply for posted positions after the probationary period is completed;
- 10. If the nurse has not successfully posted into a permanent position by the end of the supernumerary appointment, she/he will be reclassified as casual part-time and this will not be considered a lay-off and the nurse will not be reassigned;
- 11. The Employer bears the onus of demonstrating that such positions are supernumerary;
- 12. The Association will be provided with such written information as it may reasonably require regarding each supernumerary position;
- 13. In the event of a layoff in the area of assignment of the supernumerary nurse, either the Employer or the Union may require that the supernumerary nurse shall be first laid off.

RENEWED AT Peterborough, Ontario, this __31st __, day of _May____, 2017

FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION
"Lionel Towns" CEO	"Mark Miller" Labour Relations Officer
"Betty Hazen"	<u>"Erica Vaughan"</u> Bargaining Unit President
"Cindy Tengelics" Human Resources Manager	

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

Between:	
FAIRHAVEN HOME FOR	SENIOR CITIZENS
And:	
ONTARIO NURSES'	ASSOCIATION
Re: Call-in Errors	
Where a full-time nurse has missed an entitled ca pay) as a result of an error, the nurse shall be pa missed at the appropriate rate of pay (straight time they will not be offered supernumerary shifts.	id for the equivalent hours to that which was
Where a part-time nurse has missed an entitled capay) as a result of an error, the nurse shall be offenders to that which was missed at the appropriate Such shift will be scheduled at a mutually agreeable	ered a supernumerary shift for the equivalent rate of pay (at straight time or overtime rate).
RENEWED AT Peterborough, Ontain	rio, this31 st , day of _May, 2017
FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION
"Lionel Towns" CEO	"Mark Miller" Labour Relations Officer
"Betty Hazen"	"Erica Vaughan" Bargaining Unit President
"Cindy Tengelics" Human Resources Manager	